Developing and applying a framework to understand mechanisms of action in group-based, behaviour change interventions: the MAGI mixed-methods study

Aleksandra J Borek,^{1,2} Jane R Smith,^{1*} Colin J Greaves,^{1,3} Fiona Gillison,⁴ Mark Tarrant,¹ Sarah Morgan-Trimmer,¹ Rose McCabe^{1,5} and Charles Abraham^{1,6*}

¹Institute of Health Research, University of Exeter Medical School, University of Exeter, Exeter, UK

²Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

- ³School of Sport, Exercise and Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
- ⁴Department for Health, University of Bath, Bath, UK

⁵School of Health Sciences, City, University of London, London, UK

⁶School of Psychological Sciences, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

*Corresponding authors jane.smith@exeter.ac.uk and c.abraham@exeter.ac.uk

Declared competing interests of authors: none

Disclaimer: This report contains transcripts from group session recordings obtained in the course of the research and contains language that may offend some readers.

Published June 2019 DOI: 10.3310/eme06030

Plain English summary

The MAGI mixed-methods study

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation 2019; Vol. 6: No. 3 DOI: 10.3310/eme06030

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain English summary

Why is this important?

Group-based programmes are commonly used to support people in making healthy lifestyle changes (e.g. diet, physical activity, weight loss) to prevent growing health problems, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. It is known that groups can have powerful influences on individuals, but little is understood about how and why groups work. This study aimed to increase understanding about how group programmes work, so that they can better support people in improving their health.

What did we do?

There were three stages to this study. In stage 1, research and theories about groups were reviewed. Materials (e.g. instructions for group leaders) and 10 audio-recordings of group sessions from three groupbased weight loss programmes were then analysed. Group participants, group leaders and researchers were asked about how they thought groups worked. The information gathered was combined into a structured 'Mechanisms of Action in Group-based Interventions' (MAGI) framework. This identified, categorised and defined important group features and processes occurring in groups that explain how groups can support people to make lifestyle changes. The framework was summarised in a diagram and a table. In stage 2, instructions were developed on how researchers can use this MAGI framework to analyse what happens in groups. These instructions were used to look for real examples of group features and processes in a further 28 recordings of group sessions, and what group leaders do to help the groups run smoothly was described. In stage 3, data from selected groups in one of the weight loss programmes were used to suggest questions and develop methods for future research on group-based programmes.

Key messages

This study increased understanding of how group-based programmes work. It provides resources that can be used to improve group-based programmes when designing, leading or doing research on group programmes in the future.

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation

ISSN 2050-4365 (Print)

ISSN 2050-4373 (Online)

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full EME archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/eme. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation journal

Reports are published in *Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation* (EME) if (1) they have resulted from work for the EME programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

EME programme

The Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme was set up in 2008 as part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and the Medical Research Council (MRC) coordinated strategy for clinical trials. The EME programme is broadly aimed at supporting 'science driven' studies with an expectation of substantial health gain and aims to support excellent clinical science with an ultimate view to improving health or patient care.

Its remit includes evaluations of new treatments, including therapeutics (small molecule and biologic), psychological interventions, public health, diagnostics and medical devices. Treatments or interventions intended to prevent disease are also included.

The EME programme supports laboratory based or similar studies that are embedded within the main study if relevant to the remit of the EME programme. Studies that use validated surrogate markers as indicators of health outcome are also considered.

For more information about the EME programme please visit the website: http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/programmes/eme

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the EME programme as project number 14/202/03. The contractual start date was in January 2016. The final report began editorial review in October 2017 and was accepted for publication in June 2018. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The EME editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research. The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the MRC, NETSCC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If social Care.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2019. This work was produced by Borek *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor John Powell Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Editor-in-Chief of HTA and EME journals. Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK, and Honorary Professor, University of Manchester, and Senior Clinical Researcher and Associate Professor, Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals) and Editor-in-Chief of HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Senior Scientific Advisor, Wessex Institute, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Consultant Advisor, Wessex Institute, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Director, NIHR Dissemination Centre, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Senior Research Fellow, York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor John Norrie Chair in Medical Statistics, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Jim Thornton Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Professor Martin Underwood Warwick Clinical Trials Unit, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk